Reid Weingarten 1114 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036 212 506 3900 main 212 506 3955 direct www.steptoe.com rweingarten@steptoe.com



July 11, 2019

VIA ECF The Honorable Richard M. Berman United States District Court Southern District of New York United States Courthouse (212) 805-6715 500 Pearl Street New York, NY 10007

## RE: United States v. Jeffrey Epstein, Criminal No. 19-490

Dear Judge Berman:

We write to outline the grounds entitling Jeffrey Epstein to pretrial release, proposing a stringent set of conditions that will effectively guarantee his appearance and abate any conceivable danger he's claimed to present.

In essence, the government seeks to remand a self-made New York native and lifelong American resident based on dated allegations for which he was already convicted and punished – conduct the relitigation of which is barred by a prior federal nonprosecution agreement (the "NPA"). The government makes this drastic demand even though Mr. Epstein has never once attempted to flee the United States – despite a Florida federal judge's stated belief that he could void the NPA in appropriate circumstances, possibly threatening new charges there, and notwithstanding legally erroneous government assertions in ancillary litigation that Mr. Epstein was subject to potential prosecution in other federal judicial districts, including this one specifically. Indeed, Mr. Epstein feared the toxic political climate might tempt the government to try and end-run the NPA – yet continually returned home from travel abroad, fully prepared to vindicate his rights under the agreement and otherwise mount a full-throated defense. Finally, the government takes its extreme position in the teeth of Mr. Epstein's perfect compliance with onerous sex offender registration requirements – pinpointing his exact nightly whereabouts – across multiple jurisdictions over a 10-year period.

Nonetheless, it is fundamental that pretrial detention is reserved for "a small but identifiable group of particularly dangerous defendants as to whom neither the imposition of stri[ct] release conditions nor the prospect of revocation of release can reasonably assure the safety of the community or other persons." S. Rep. No. 98-225, at 6-7 (1984), *reprinted in* 1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3182, 3189. And that's true no matter how much rhetoric and hyperbole the government and media pile on a presumptively innocent citizen. Popular condemnation aside, compelling legal issues stand between Mr. Epstein and any possible conviction on the allegations of conduct from 14 to 17 years ago pressed in the indictment. Importantly, the Bail Reform Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3141 *et seq.*, authorizes release for even wealthy defendants facing serious charges who travel and own property abroad.

The government's indictment labels this a "Sex Trafficking" case. Yes, the government may have witnesses who will testify to participating in sexual massages – most over 18; some under; some who told the police they lied about their age to gain admission to Mr. Epstein's residence; some who will testify that Mr. Epstein knew they were not yet 18.<sup>1</sup> But their anticipated testimony only punctuates the alleged offenses' purely local nature. (All occurred within a single New York residence or, if the Florida conduct is ultimately ruled admissible despite the NPA, then within two residences.) There are no allegations in the indictment that Mr. Epstein trafficked anybody for commercial profit; that he forced, coerced, defrauded, or enslaved anybody; or that he engaged in any of the other paradigmatic sex trafficking activity that 18 U.S.C. § 1591 aims to eradicate. No one seeks to minimize the gravity of the alleged conduct, but it is clear that the conduct falls within the heartland of classic state or local sex offenses – and at or outside the margins of federal criminal law.

Mr. Epstein, 66, is a U.S. citizen who's lived his entire life in this country. Born and bred in Coney Island, he worked his way up from humble origins – his father was a New York City municipal employee in the Parks Department – and earned every penny he's made with nothing more than a high school diploma. He speaks only English and knows no other languages. He owns no foreign businesses and holds no foreign bank accounts. Five of the six residences he maintains are located here in America. His brother, niece, and nephew all live here too.

Until his arrest in this case, Mr. Epstein's only notable brush with the law resulted in the 2007 NPA (Exhibit 1) and a 2008 state-court guilty plea required by the NPA for conduct substantially overlapping the conduct charged in the pending indictment. As a result of the state guilty plea, Mr. Epstein received a 30-month sentence, 18 months of incarceration, and 12 months' probation under conditions including home confinement. Mr. Epstein served 13 months in custody, 12 months on probation and, as a condition of the NPA and his state sentence, was required to register as a sex offender in the locations of his residences. He is currently registered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> New York's age of consent was 17 at the time of the alleged conduct and remains so today. *See* N.Y. Penal Law § 130.05.

in the U.S. Virgin Islands, his principal residence, Florida, and New York. Mr. Epstein has scrupulously fulfilled his obligations in every jurisdiction in which he was required to register throughout the 10-year hiatus between his release and present arrest. All of his travel has been meticulously reported to the registration authorities so that they have been aware of his precise location every single day for the past 10 years. Better still, the pending charges date back 14-17 years, from 2002 to 2005. Yet, tellingly, they allege no recurrence of the conduct underlying the NPA and Florida state conviction at any time in the ensuing decade and a half (2005-2019). Together, these unique factors are powerful indicia that Mr. Epstein is no longer a danger to anyone and will faithfully obey all conditions of release if ordered.

In sum, Mr. Epstein has substantial grounds to challenge the allegations charged by the government in its indictment, and he has every intention of doing so in a lawful, professional, and principled manner. He intends to fight the current charges on their merits and, more, to contest their legality given the inextricable intertwining of the current investigation and his NPA which promised him immunity and a global settlement for offenses including those brought under 18 U.S.C. § 1591. Any perception that Mr. Epstein poses any conceivable danger or flight risk may be readily dispelled by a slate of highly restrictive conditions, which amply suffice to secure his release:

- 1. Home detention in Mr. Epstein's Manhattan residence, with permission to leave only for medical appointments as approved by Pretrial Services, including (at the Court's discretion) the installation of surveillance cameras at the front and rear entrances to ensure compliance.
- 2. Electronic monitoring with a Global Positioning System.<sup>2</sup>
- 3. An agreement not to seek or obtain any new passport during the pendency of this matter.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "A radio frequency ('RF') bracelet is the more conventional 'ankle bracelet' that has been used over time. GPS monitoring is a more recent phenomenon that is distinct from RF monitoring. While both units are placed on the ankle, the former tracks an offender's movements in real time, while the latter is contingent upon proximity to a base unit connected to a landline at an offender's home. Statistically, GPS monitoring is more effective than RF monitoring at preventing recidivism." *United States v. Paulino*, 335 F. Supp. 3d 600, 617 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Epstein has only one active passport permitting current travel – not three, as the government fancies. That one active U.S. passport has now been surrendered. Mr. Epstein has no foreign passports.

- 4. Consent to U.S. extradition from any country and waiver of all rights against such extradition.<sup>4</sup>
- 5. A substantial personal recognizance bond in an amount set by the Court after reviewing additional information regarding Mr. Epstein's finances, which Mr. Epstein will seek the Court's permission to provide via sealed supplemental disclosure.
- 6. The bond shall be secured by a mortgage on the Manhattan residence, valued at roughly \$77 million. Mr. Epstein's private jet can be pledged as further collateral.
- 7. Mr. Epstein's brother Mark will serve as a co-surety of the bond, which shall be further secured by a mortgage on Mark's home in West Palm Beach, Florida. Mr. Epstein's friend David Mitchell will also serve as a co-surety and pledge his investment interests in two properties to secure the bond.
- 8. Mr. Epstein shall deregister or otherwise ground his private jet.<sup>5</sup>
- 9. He shall demobilize, ground, and/or deregister all vehicles or any other means of transportation in the New York area, providing particularized information as to each vehicle's location.
- 10. Mr. Epstein will provide Pretrial Services and/or the government random access to his residence.
- 11. No person shall enter the residence, other than Mr. Epstein and his attorneys, without prior approval from Pretrial Services and/or the Court.
- 12. Mr. Epstein will report daily by telephone to Pretrial Services (or on any other schedule the Court deems appropriate).
- 13. A Trustee or Trustees will be appointed to live in Mr. Epstein's residence and report any violation to Pretrial Services and/or the Court.
- 14. Any other condition the Court deems necessary to reasonably assure Mr. Epstein's appearance.

## I. Applicable law

Echoing and reinforcing the presumption of innocence, our justice system's bedrock, there is a "strong presumption against [pretrial] detention." *United States v. Hanson*, 613 F. Supp. 2d 85, 87 (D.D.C. 2009). A person facing trial generally must be released so long as some "condition, or combination of conditions . . . [can] reasonably assure the appearance of the person as required and the safety of any other person and the community." 18 U.S.C. § 3142(c). "Only in rare circumstances should release be denied." *United States v. Motamedi*, 767 F.2d 1403, 1405 (9th Cir. 1985). Any doubts as to the propriety of release are resolved in the defendant's favor. *See United States v. Chen*, 820 F. Supp. 1205, 1207 (N.D. Cal. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Epstein's lone foreign residence is in Paris; France has an extradition treaty with the United States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Epstein owns one private jet. He sold the other jet in June 2019.

Though the Bail Reform Act contains a rebuttable presumption in favor of detention based on the crimes charged, the presumption shifts only the burden of *production*, not persuasion. *See United States v. Martir*, 782 F.2d 1141, 1144 (2d Cir. 1986). Accordingly, the statutory demand on defendants "is fairly easily met." *United States v. Conway*, No. 4-11-70756, 2011 WL 3421321, at \*2 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 3, 2011). To rebut the presumption, a defendant need only "show that the specific nature of the crimes charged, or that something about their individual circumstances, suggests that 'what is true in general is not true in the particular case . . . *" United States v. Dominguez*, 783 F.2d 702, 707 (7th Cir. 1986) (quoting *United States v. Jessup*, 757 F.2d 378, 384 (1st Cir.1985)). "The quantum of evidence required to rebut the presumption is not high." *United States v. Thompson*, No. 16-CR-00019, 2018 WL 447331, at \*2 (M.D. Pa. Jan. 17, 2018) (citation omitted). "Any evidence favorable to a defendant that comes within a category listed in § 3142(g) can affect the operation of [the presumption], including evidence of their marital, family and employment status, ties to and role in the community, clean criminal record and other types of evidence encompassed in § 3142(g)(3)." *Dominguez*, 783 F.2d at 707 (clean record plus socioeconomic stability sufficed to rebut presumption).

In short, evidence that the defendant is unlikely to flee or commit crimes rebuts the presumption, forcing the government to persuade the court that detention is warranted. *See Conway*, 2011 WL 3421321, at \*5 (§ 1591 defendant released pending trial). While not disappearing entirely, the presumption thus recedes to one factor among many in determining whether there are sufficient conditions to "reasonably assure" both presence and safety. *See Martir*, 782 F.2d at 1144; *see also United States v. Orta*, 760 F.2d 887, 891 (8th Cir. 1985) ("[R]easonably assure" doesn't mean "guarantee."). Even in a presumption case, then, "the government retains the ultimate burden of persuasion by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant presents a danger to the community," and by a "preponderance" that he poses a flight "risk." *United States v. English*, 629 F.3d 311, 319 (2d Cir. 2011) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

# II. Mr. Epstein's 14-year record of law-abiding behavior rebuts any presumption in favor of pretrial detention

In this case, any danger presumption attending the § 1591 charges evaporates against Mr. Epstein's meticulous obedience, from 2005 to date, to both the law's commands and his rigorous registration and reporting obligations as a convicted sex offender. The indictment does not allege that Mr. Epstein committed any crime in the 14-year interval between the end of the alleged conduct and the initiation of this case. The dangerousness prong of the Bail Reform Act is predictive, asking whether it's likely that Mr. Epstein will reoffend if released. A spotless 14-year record of walking the straight and narrow, complemented by an exemplary 10-year history of diligent sex offender registration and reporting, is compelling proof he was able, once the prior investigation commenced, to conform his conduct to the law's dictates. The time lag between the offenses charged and today is particularly compelling in terms of a prediction of

future danger when viewed in the context of the unparalleled global media attention the case has garnered, including the creation of a website by the government requesting witnesses claiming abuse to come forward. Accordingly, any danger that Mr. Epstein may have once posed to the community has long since abated. At the very least, this enormous gap in time precludes a finding by clear and convincing evidence that no conditions of release can reasonably assure the community's safety.<sup>6</sup>

The rebuttable presumption of a risk of flight is negated by the evidence that the government had stated it believed it could prosecute Mr. Epstein for the very same conduct for which he was immunized, albeit in a second jurisdiction, despite the protections conferred upon him under the NPA. Mr. Epstein's continuous presence in the United States even while he had a residence out of the country reinforces the point. As detailed below, Mr. Epstein understood the NPA as a global resolution of any charges arising from the alleged conduct at issue here, including conduct in New York. Indeed, the government, in a Southern District of Florida filing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The government vastly overreaches in painting Mr. Epstein as dangerous based on musty plea discussions. The government's argument that Mr. Epstein's release would risk obstructive behavior, at pages 8-9 of its submission, rests primarily upon statements made between Mr. Epstein's prior counsel and an Assistant U.S. Attorney while they searched for a federal offense, at the government's behest, with a one-year statutory maximum or guideline during the give-andtake of those of plea negotiations. The communication from prior counsel about a potential proffer for a federal charge was met with the response that there was no sufficient evidence to charge such an offense. These purported facts were mere allegations that did not ultimately manifest themselves in any agreement by Mr. Epstein - nor in any agreement that probable cause existed to support any obstruction or assault charge. And the documents from the Southern District of Florida litigation referenced by the government in support of its argument on this point expressly acknowledge this lack of substantiation. See Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 v. United States, 08-CV-80736 (S.D. Fla.), Dkt. 361-10 (prosecutor stating, "[o]n the obstruction charges, many of the facts that I included in that first proffer were hypothesized based upon our discussions and the agents' observations of [redacted]. We will need to interview her to confirm the accuracy of those facts. . . . "), Dkt. 361-11 (prosecutor stating, "I know that someone mentioned there being activity on an airplane, I just wanted to make sure that there is factual basis for the plea that the agents can confirm"), Dkt. 361-9 (prosecutor stating, "I don't know the factual basis for the alleged [redacted] because we have no independent evidence of that"). In short, these were suggested hypotheses not facts, and the government itself ultimately did not believe there was factual support for the allegations. They do not provide a sufficiently reliable factual basis for any finding by clear and convincing evidence. As to the suggestion by the prosecutor that a charge could be predicated on a prior incident where it was alleged that an investigator forced a family member of a witness off the road, the defense is without knowledge as to the basis for this allegation and the conduct, if it occurred, was not attributable to or authorized by Mr. Epstein.

that was unsealed and became public in July 2013, specifically noted that "a number of districts outside the Southern District of Florida (*e.g.*, the Southern District of New York and the District of New Jersey) share jurisdiction and venue with the Southern District of Florida over potential federal criminal charges based on the alleged sexual acts committed by Epstein against the Petitioners. Epstein is thus subject to potential prosecution for such acts in those districts." Exhibit 2, *Jane Doe* #1 and Jane Doe #2 v. United States, 08-CV-80736 (S.D. Fla. July 5, 2013), Dkt. 205-2, at 9. The government went so far as to invite the alleged victims "to contact the United States Attorney's Office in those districts and seek to confer with government attorneys in those offices about investigating and potentially prosecuting Epstein based on the alleged federal crimes committed against them." *Id.* at 10. The Florida U.S. Attorney's Office even offered to share the evidence gathered in its investigation with prosecutors and grand juries in the other relevant jurisdictions. *See id.* at 10 n.9.

The defense strongly disagrees with the premise that the government can offer and execute an immunity or nonprosecution agreement with a citizen in the location of one of two venues where an interstate telephone call (or flight or any form of wire or mail communication) occurs and then circumvent the consequences of that immunity grant by having the very same prosecution office promote and motivate a prosecution by another office at the second venue of what in fact was a single criminal transaction. What is significant for bail purposes is that notwithstanding this notice of the government's illegal position, and his knowledge of the substantial penalties that he would face if charged and convicted, Mr. Epstein made no attempt to flee in the approximately six years preceding his arrest. During that time, as noted by the government, he engaged in substantial international travel, always returning to his residences in the United States. Mr. Epstein never sought to obtain dual citizenship or took any other steps indicative of an intent to flee. This fact significantly undermines the government's contentions regarding risk of flight and indicates Mr. Epstein's good-faith intent to contest the charges pending against him.

On September 24, 2007, after a year-long investigation, the Department of Justice, through the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida ("USAO-SDFL"), entered into the NPA with Mr. Epstein. The NPA immunized Mr. Epstein from five distinct potential federal charges that "may have been committed by Epstein . . . from in or around 2001 through in or around September 2007." Exhibit 1, NPA, at 1-2. One of the federal charges was 18 U.S.C. § 1591, the statute charged in this SDNY case. The time period covered by the NPA subsumes the entire time period charged in this SDNY case. The USAO-SDFL acknowledged in the NPA that the very premise for Mr. Epstein to enter into it was "to resolve *globally* his state and federal criminal liability . . . " *Id.* at 2 (emphasis added). Senior officials at the Department of Justice reviewed the NPA and either authorized or helped negotiate the resolution of the matter. *See, e.g.*, United States' Second Supplemental Privilege Log filed as Dkt. 329-1 in *Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 v. United States*, No. 08-CV-80736 (S.D. Fla.) (the "CVRA litigation") (illustrating the number of prosecutors involved in the decision-making over the NPA).

The NPA required Mr. Epstein to plead guilty to a state felony charge (Fla. Stat. § 796.07), then pending in the State of Florida and to an additional state felony charge (not previously charged or required by the State) of violating Fla. Stat. § 796.03 (Case No. 2008-CF-9381AXX), a charge requiring registration as a sex offender. Mr. Epstein complied with all of his obligations under the NPA.

Contrary to the government's argument, the NPA was not limited to a "list of several dozen victims identified in the prior investigation . . . ." Gov't Bail Letter at 6-7. Indeed, the NPA contains no "list of several dozen victims" and regardless, the NPA immunized Mr. Epstein from prosecution "for the *offenses* set out on pages 1 and 2 of this Agreement," allegedly committed between 2001-07, as well as "any offenses that arose from the Federal Grand Jury investigation." NPA at 2 (emphasis added). Moreover, the government's interpretation that the NPA "pertained exclusively to the SDFL investigation" and "did not purport to bind any other Office or District" will be the subject of a major dispute in this case. This is especially so because Mr. Epstein's alleged conduct at his Palm Beach residence features prominently in the conspiracy count (Count 1, ¶¶ 14-19, ¶ 22.a, d, f) and is incorporated by reference in the substantive charge (Count 2, ¶ 23).

Beyond that, Mr. Epstein intends to raise and litigate significant due process issues about the Department of Justice's conduct in this case. Namely, there is irrefutable evidence from the pending CVRA litigation in the Southern District of Florida that, after Mr. Epstein had fully complied with his obligations under the NPA, the USAO-SDFL affirmatively encouraged alleged victims to pursue prosecution of Mr. Epstein in other districts, in violation of the DOJ's commitment to a "global" resolution. See Exhibit 2, at 8-12. The United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, along with supervisory and line prosecutors from the USAO-SDFL, corresponded on multiple occasions with, and personally conferred with, alleged victims and their lawyers to entertain discussions about the alleged victims' desire to have Mr. Epstein prosecuted on federal charges. See id. at 9. Further, the Southern District of New York is likely relying upon physical evidence seized in connection with the prior investigation, see Gov't Bail Letter at 6 (discussing "corroborating evidence," including "contemporaneous notes, messages . . ., and call records"). In short, there will be evidence that the current New York case is not truly independent of the prior immunized conduct. The evidence will show that Mr. Epstein's reasonable expectation that the NPA would "resolve globally [Mr. Epstein's] state and federal criminal liability" in exchange for Mr. Epstein's compliance with the duties and obligations in the NPA – which he fully performed – has been unconstitutionally undermined by the government's efforts to minimize the potential consequences of a CVRA conferral violation (one that neither the government nor defense believes occurred but that was found to have occurred in the CVRA litigation which is pending a decision on remedies) by returning an inextricably intertwined second federal prosecution just as the District Court in Florida is receiving submissions on remedy.

Finally, the government fails to consider the doctrine of pre-indictment delay, inasmuch as the statute of limitations does not fully define a defendant's rights with respect to delays that occurred prior to the indictment. *See generally United States v. Marion*, 404 U.S. 307 (1971). Here, the delays of 14 years from the last alleged act and 12 years since Mr. Epstein signed the NPA are extraordinary. If the government is correct that the NPA does not, and never did, preclude a prosecution in this district, then the government will have to explain why it purposefully delayed a prosecution of someone like Mr. Epstein, who registered as a sex offender 10 years ago and was certainly no stranger to law enforcement. There is no legitimate explanation for the delay.

# III. The government fails to meet its burden of proving that no combination of conditions will assure Mr. Epstein's appearance and public safety

An analysis of the relevant statutory factors and case law supports pretrial release. Even should the Court conclude, despite substantial evidence to the contrary, that the defendant presents a risk of flight, the foregoing combination of conditions virtually guarantees his appearance as required. Crucially, while it is always possible to hypothesize risks, the statutory standard requires only a reasonable assurance that the defendant, if released, will appear. The conditions proposed above, including electronic GPS monitoring, surrender of Mr. Epstein's passport, deregistration and/or grounding of Mr. Epstein's private plane, and a substantial personal bond (including posting of personal residence(s) and/or private jet as security to guarantee appearance) would extinguish any plausible risks. Mr. Epstein's current notoriety minimizes any conceivable risk of flight even further. The location where he could be detained his residence on East 71st Street in New York has entrances (one on the street, one in the back) that can be easily monitored by video. With all of his financial resources in the United States (other than his Paris residence) and with his New York residence at risk due to the government's forfeiture allegation, Mr. Epstein would be sacrificing virtually everything he has worked for including any collateral the Court requires he post to secure his appearance - if he were to flee and to disentitle himself to the defense of his property whether it would be at risk to forfeiture or for a bail violation.

To the extent there is any doubt regarding the proposed conditions, there is tremendous moral suasion provided by the posting of real and personal property of Mr. Epstein's brother, and his close personal friend of decades, who have offered to co-sign a surety bond to ensure Mr. Epstein's appearance in Court as required. Indeed, Mr. Epstein's brother has agreed to pledge his family home, that he shares half the year with his 14-year-old daughter and 17-year-old son, in order to secure the bond. It is particularly telling that Mr. Epstein's brother, his only living immediate family member, as well as his close personal friend, are both willing to guarantee his appearance, notwithstanding the widespread negative publicity of Mr. Epstein that has dominated the news cycle since his arrest.

To reiterate, the Bail Reform Act requires pretrial release on the "*least restrictive*" conditions that will assure both appearance and public safety. 18 U.S.C. § 3142(c)(1)(B) (emphasis added). Home confinement monitored by 24-hour private security guards – a lesser restriction than pretrial detention – has proven effective in meeting those goals in many prominent cases prosecuted in our Circuit, including cases against defendants as infamous as Bernie Madoff, Marc Dreier and David Brooks.

To be clear, defense counsel are fully confident Mr. Epstein will appear as required without resort to this measure. And we understand and appreciate Your Honor's opposition to it. *See United States v. Zarrab*, No. 15-CR-867, 2016 WL 3681423 (S.D.N.Y. June 16, 2016). Still, Mr. Epstein stands ready and willing to pay for 24-hour armed guards should the Court deem it necessary or appropriate.

More precisely, we realize that Your Honor objects to the measure as more akin to custody than release, finding it inequitable for wealthier defendants to "buy their way out" of jail pending trial. *Id.* at \*2, \*9-10, \*13 (citation omitted). Nonetheless, a band of other courts in our area have endorsed the procedure,<sup>7</sup> and the Second Circuit has affirmed its use.<sup>8</sup>

For reasons explained elsewhere, round-the-clock, privately funded security guards will virtually *guarantee* – not just reasonably assure – Mr. Epstein's presence in the circumstances of this case. Accordingly, and given the division of authority surrounding the practice, we respectfully propose it here as a fallback, asking the Court to revisit its propriety despite the reservations expressed in *Zarrab*. Those reservations, though admirably motivated and sincerely held, raise substantial equal protection concerns. They impair the statutory right to release on the *least restrictive conditions in the circumstances presented* – an inherently individualized determination – based largely on socioeconomic status, a suspect if not invidious classification. Avoiding "inequity and unequal treatment" rooted in such dubious socioeconomic distinctions – doing "equal right to the poor" and "rich" alike – are imperatives that run both ways. *Id*. (bolding deleted) (citation, footnote and internal quotation marks omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., United States v. Esposito, 354 F. Supp. 3d 354 (S.D.N.Y. 2019); United States v. Esposito, 309 F. Supp. 3d 24 (S.D.N.Y. 2018); United States v. Seng, No. 15-CR-706, 2017 WL 2693625 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 23, 2015); United States v. Dreier, 596 F. Supp. 2d 831 (S.D.N.Y. 2009); United States v. Madoff, 586 F. Supp. 2d 240 (S.D.N.Y. 2009); United States v. Schlegel, No. 06-CR-550, 2008 WL 11338900, at \*1 (E.D.N.Y. June 13, 2008), modification denied, 2008 WL 11339654 (E.D.N.Y. July 2, 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See United States v. Esposito, 749 F. App'x 20 (2d Cir. 2018); United States v. Sabhnani, 493 F.3d 63 (2d Cir. 2007).

#### Case 1:19-cr-00490-RMB Document 6 Filed 07/11/19 Page 11 of 16

Other than his 2008 guilty plea predicated on conduct substantially overlapping the same conduct charged here, Mr. Epstein has no criminal history. Congress specifically listed these factors as considerations for the Court, and their absence therefore should weigh in favor of Mr. Epstein's pretrial release. Mr. Epstein comes from a stable and humble family background. All of his remaining family members, his brother, niece, and nephew, reside in the United States. Through his business and the five residences he maintains in the United States, Mr. Epstein employs people, many of whom have been with him for more than a decade, and feels personally responsible for their livelihoods. Mr. Epstein is admittedly wealthy with all of his financial resources (other than his Paris residence) in the United States (including the U.S. Virgin Islands) and will provide the Court with more specific information regarding his assets in a sealed supplemental disclosure prior to the upcoming bail hearing if the Court grants leave to file such a sealed supplement. Mr. Epstein has, to this point, not provided a complete financial disclosure on advice of counsel, motivated by a desire to ensure the accuracy of the information provided to the Court. During the years since his release from incarceration in connection with his Florida guilty plea, Mr. Epstein has been a law-abiding citizen without a single allegation of criminal misconduct during that period and has focused his efforts on business and philanthropy. At the Court's request, Mr. Epstein will provide a sealed list of his philanthropic donations.

Crucially, the government has failed to proffer any evidence that Mr. Epstein has ever indicated an intent to flee from this investigation or any other criminal matter, which several courts have observed is a critical factor in evaluating whether pretrial release is appropriate. *See Hanson*, 613 F. Supp. 2d at 90 ("In this case, . . . there is no strong circumstantial evidence indicating that Mrs. Hanson intends to flee the United States"); *United States v. Vortis*, 785 F.2d 327 (D.C. Cir.1986) (serious intent to flee is an important factor); *United States v. Cole*, 715 F. Supp. 677, 679 (E.D. Pa.1988) (defendant told undercover agents he would flee if arrested). In fact, Mr. Epstein has displayed long-term, consistent compliance with Court orders and other legal requirements. As a result of his 2008 guilty plea and corresponding sex-offender designation, Mr. Epstein is required to (1) register for life as a sex offender; (2) regularly verify his address with Virgin Islands, Florida, and New York authorities; (3) annually update his registry photograph; and (4) provide registration authorities with detailed itineraries for all travel (both domestic and international) in which he engages. Mr. Epstein has strictly complied with these requirements, without exception, for approximately ten years.

The Court inquired about the relationship of the New York State registration classification and the requirements of the Bail Reform Act. And while it is true that the New York Appellate Division held that Mr. Epstein was appropriately classified as a level-three sex offender, this inquiry was entirely backward-looking and based on the allegations contained in a Florida probable cause affidavit describing conduct ending in 2005 that were neither admitted-to nor within the scope of Mr. Epstein's guilty plea. *See People v. Epstein*, 89 A.D. 3d 570, 571 (N.Y. App. Div. 2011). While Mr. Epstein has made no subsequent attempt to challenge the continuing nature of his designation, his law-abiding behavior for the ensuing decade plus significantly undercuts any suggestion of current dangerousness based on any regulatory classification. Moreover, as discussed above, Mr. Epstein's strict compliance with the various monitoring requirements associated with his sex-offender registration actually decrease any danger that he might otherwise pose. It is also worth noting that Mr. Epstein is classified as a tier-one sex offender, the lowest classification available, in the U.S. Virgin Islands, where he maintains his primary residence. The defense respectfully suggests that Mr. Epstein's Virgin Islands designation is more consistent with the circumstances of the actual offenses for which he was convicted, and certainly more consistent with the predictive factor of whether there is a danger of recidivism which the defense contends there is not.

Mr. Epstein's financial means and past international travel do not extinguish this Court's congressional mandate to order pretrial release in every case where reasonable conditions can assure the appearance of the defendant as required.<sup>9</sup> Indeed, numerous courts have rejected government requests for detention, and instead ordered pretrial release, in cases where the charged defendant was either a non-citizen (unlike Mr. Epstein) or a naturalized citizen with substantial if not weightier contacts with foreign jurisdictions, including the following decisions:

- United States v. Sabhnani, 493 F.3d 63 (2d Cir. 2007) (reversing district court order of detention of defendants, who were natives of Indonesia, and ordering release despite defendants' "strong motive to flee" because of serious charges and "strong" evidence of guilt, despite finding that defendants faced "lengthy term of incarceration" if convicted, despite finding defendants possessed "ample means to finance flight," despite finding that defendants to their native countries as well as personal and professional ties to various locations in Europe and the Middle East," and despite finding that defendants "could, with relatively little disruption, continue to operate their highly lucrative business from any number of overseas locations");
- United States v. Hansen, 108 F. App'x 331 (6th Cir. 2004) (affirming district court order of pretrial release of defendant, a resident and citizen of Denmark-from where defendant could not be extradited-charged with bulk cash smuggling and forfeiture, noting that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This Court's opinion in *Zarrab* stands only for the proposition that wealthy defendants should not be provided an unfair advantage. It does not, of course, suggest that wealthy defendants should bear a special disadvantage. The facts supporting the Court's ruling of pretrial detention in *Zarrab* are easily distinguishable. The present case does not have national security implications, Mr. Epstein is a United States citizen (and does not possess any dual citizenship), the only foreign country in which Mr. Epstein maintains a residence (France) has an extradition treaty with the United States, Mr. Epstein's assets are almost all located in the United States (with the exception of his Paris residence), and Mr. Epstein has provided only truthful information to Pretrial Services.

"bail statute does not . . . require that foreign defendants be detained simply because their return cannot be guaranteed through extradition");

- United States v. Karni, 298 F. Supp. 2d 129 (D.D.C. 2004) (ordering release of defendant, an Israeli national who had resided in South Africa for the 18 years preceding his arrest when he landed in Colorado for a family ski trip based on allegations he violated the Export Administration Act and the International Economic Emergency Powers Act by acquiring products capable of triggering nuclear weapons and exported them to Pakistan, despite defendant's lack of any ties to the United States, despite finding that defendant had "no ties to the United States or the Washington, D.C. area," despite finding that "no evidence [was] presented establishing that Defendant has ever lived in this country, owned property here, or that he has any family or community ties in the United States," despite finding that defendant "was only in this country in order to participate in a ski vacation with his wife and daughter," and despite finding that "the weight of the evidence against Defendant is substantial");
- United States v. Hanson, 613 F. Supp. 2d 85 (D.D.C. 2009) (ordering release of defendant, a naturalized citizen of the United States, despite finding defendant "has strong ties to [her home country of] China," finding that the defendant owned property in China, that the defendant spent almost all of her ten years of marriage living abroad with her husband, that during 2008 the defendant spent only 22 days in the United States, that the charges against the defendant (violations of International Emergency Economic Powers Act and the Export Administration Regulations) "were serious and carried a potential for a significant period of incarceration" and that the "government has strong evidence against" the defendant "including her own statement to investigators that she smuggled the UAV autopilot components out of the United States and knew there were licensing requirements for such items").

The fact that the government will potentially seek a significant sentence if Mr. Epstein is convicted on all counts similarly does not preclude pretrial release in this case – several courts have ordered pretrial release despite finding that the defendant faced serious charges carrying significant potential sentences. *See, e.g., Sabhnani*, 493 F.3d 63 (reversing district court order of detention despite finding that defendants, natives of Indonesia, faced "lengthy term of incarceration" and "strong" evidence of guilt existed); *Karni*, 298 F. Supp. 2d 129 (ordering release of defendant, an Israeli national who had resided in South Africa for the 18 years preceding his arrest, despite finding that "the weight of the evidence against Defendant is substantial"); *Hanson*, 613 F. Supp. 2d 85 (noting that charges "were serious and carried a potential for a significant period of incarceration" and that the "government has strong evidence against" the defendant "including her own statement to investigators that she smuggled the UAV autopilot components out of the United States and knew there were licensing requirements for such items"). As the government concedes, the increases in sentencing exposure enacted after

the alleged conduct at issue here do not apply retroactively to Mr. Epstein's case (including a maximum sentence of life imprisonment and a mandatory minimum sentence of 10 years). Mr. Epstein would, moreover, be subject to prosecution if he fled, which he now knows carries a maximum penalty of up to 10 additional years of imprisonment, 18 U.S.C. § 3146(b)(l)(A)(l), and/or the real risk of an enhanced sentence by the Court in this matter if not acquitted.

It must further be emphasized that the allegations outlined within the indictment are just that – allegations – and the defendant anticipates substantial factual and legal challenges to the government case. For one thing, Epstein has potent legal defenses to prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1591, the sex trafficking statute driving the pending indictment. We front and briefly outline one of those defenses for the limited purpose of seeking bail. We will amplify it later, along with various other arguments, in full-blown dismissal motions.

Section 1591 was passed as part of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 ("TVPA"), Pub. L. No. 106-386, 114 Stat. 1464 (October 28, 2000). In enacting the TVPA, Congress recognized that human trafficking, particularly of women and children in the sex industry, "is a modern form of slavery, and it is the largest manifestation of slavery today." 22 U.S.C. § 7101(b)(1); see also id. at § 7101(b)(2), (4). "The TVPA criminalizes and attempts to prevent slavery, involuntary servitude, and human trafficking for commercial gain." United States v. Evans, 476 F.3d 1176, 1179 (11th Cir. 2007). Importantly, "the entire language and design of the statute as a whole indicates that it is meant to punish those who are the providers or pimps of children, not the purchasers or the johns." Fierro v. Taylor, No. 11-CV8573, 2012 WL 13042630, at \*3 (S.D.N.Y. July 2, 2012) (quoting United States v. Bonestroo, No. 11-CR-40016, 2012 WL 13704, at \*4 (D.S.D. Jan. 4, 2012)) (emphasis added). In Fierro, the district court found § 1591 inapplicable to consumers or purchasers of sex acts. Here, the principal conduct underlying the indictment is Mr. Epstein's payment of money for massages that purportedly escalated to alleged sex acts. Mr. Epstein's conduct, however, is akin to consumer or purchaser behavior and should be outside the ambit of 18 U.S.C. § 1591. See Fierro, 2012 WL 13042630, at \*4 ("[T]he TVPA is inapplicable to individual purchasers of sex from trafficking victims....").<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> While *Fiero* represents the law in this district, Mr. Epstein notes that there is a division of authority on the scope of § 1591. *See United States v. Jungers*, 702 F.3d 1066, 1068 (8th Cir. 2013). The defense respectfully submits that the *Fiero* court's approach to this issue is more persuasive and more consistent with the Congressional purpose to target commercial sex trafficking.

#### IV. Sixth Amendment

Finally, in a case such as this one, which will likely involve voluminous discovery and is predicated on events allegedly occurring 14 or more years ago, it is critical to counsel's ability to provide effective assistance, as well as the defendant's ability to meaningfully contribute to his defense, that Mr. Epstein be permitted pretrial release. The Sixth Amendment "does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense. It is the accused, not counsel, who must be 'informed of the nature and cause of the accusation,' and who must be 'confronted with the witnesses against him,' and who must be accorded 'compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor.'" *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975). Given the unique circumstances of this case, Mr. Epstein's exercise of these important Constitutional rights would be materially impaired by his pretrial detention.

#### V. Conclusion

Wherefore, for all of the foregoing reasons, Mr. Epstein respectfully submits that his conduct over the past 14 years proves that he poses no risk of flight or threat to the safety of the community. Even if the Court should have concerns to the contrary, there clearly exist a combination of conditions that would be sufficient to assure his presence as required and/or the safety of the community, including but not limited to some or all of the conditions proposed *supra*, or any other conditions the Court deems necessary and appropriate.

Yours truly,

Reid Weingarten Steptoe & Johnson, LLP (NYC) 1114 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036 (202)-506-3900 Fax: (212)-506-3950 rweingarten@steptoe.com

Martin G. Weinberg (application for admission *pro hac vice* forthcoming) Martin G. Weinberg, P.C. 20 Park Plaza, Suite 1000 Boston, MA 02116 (617) 227-3700 Fax: (617) 338-9538 owlmgw@att.net

Marc Allan Fernich Law Office of Marc Fernich 810 Seventh Ave Suite 620 New York, NY 10019 (212) 446-2346 Fax: (212) 446 2330 maf@fernichlaw.com Case 1:19-cr-00490-RMB Document 6-1 Filed 07/11/19 Page 1 of 15

# **EXHIBIT 1**

NPA

IN RE: INVESTIGATION OF JEFFREY EPSTEIN

#### NON-PROSECUTION AGREEMENT

IT APPEARING that the City of Palm Beach Police Department and the State Attorney's Office for the 15th Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County (hereinafter, the "State Attorney's Office") have conducted an investigation into the conduct of Jeffrey Epstein (hereinafter "Epstein");

IT APPEARING that the State Attorney's Office has charged Epstein by indictment with solicitation of prostitution, in violation of Florida Statutes Section 796.07;

IT APPEARING that the United States Attorney's Office and the Federal Bureau of Investigation have conducted their own investigation into Epstein's background and any offenses that may have been committed by Epstein against the United States from in or around 2001 through in or around September 2007, including:

- (1) knowingly and willfully conspiring with others known and unknown to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to use a facility or means of interstate or foreign commerce to knowingly persuade, induce, or entice minor females to engage in prostitution, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2422(b); all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371;
- (2) knowingly and willfully conspiring with others known and unknown to travel in interstate commerce for the purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2423(f), with minor females, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2423(b); all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2423(e);
- (3) using a facility or means of interstate or foreign commerce to knowingly persuade, induce, or entice minor females to engage in prostitution; in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2422(b) and 2;
- (4) traveling in interstate commerce for the purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2423(f), with minor females; in violation

Page 1 of 7

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2423(b); and

(5) knowingly, in and affecting interstate and foreign commerce, recruiting, enticing, and obtaining by any means a person, knowing that the person had not attained the age of 18 years and would be caused to engage in a commercial sex act as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1591(c)(1); in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(1) and 2; and

IT APPEARING that Epstein seeks to resolve globally his state and federal criminal liability and Epstein understands and acknowledges that, in exchange for the benefits provided by this agreement, he agrees to comply with its terms, including undertaking certain actions with the State Attorney's Office;

IT APPEARING, after an investigation of the offenses and Epstein's background by both State and Federal law enforcement agencies, and after due consultation with the State Attorney's Office, that the interests of the United States, the State of Florida, and the Defendant will be served by the following procedure;

THEREFORE, on the authority of R. Alexander Acosta, United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, prosecution in this District for these offenses shall be deferred in favor of prosecution by the State of Florida, provided that Epstein abides by the following conditions and the requirements of this Agreement set forth below.

If the United States Attorney should determine, based on reliable evidence, that, during the period of the Agreement, Epstein willfully violated any of the conditions of this Agreement, then the United States Attorney may, within ninety (90) days following the expiration of the term of home confinement discussed below, provide Epstein with timely notice specifying the condition(s) of the Agreement that he has violated, and shall initiate its prosecution on any offense within sixty (60) days' of giving notice of the violation. Any notice provided to Epstein pursuant to this paragraph shall be provided within 60 days of the United States learning of facts which may provide a basis for a determination of a breach of the Agreement.

After timely fulfilling all the terms and conditions of the Agreement, no prosecution for the offenses set out on pages 1 and 2 of this Agreement, nor any other offenses that have been the subject of the joint investigation by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the United States Attorney's Office, nor any offenses that arose from the Federal Grand Jury investigation will be instituted in this District, and the charges against Epstein if any, will be dismissed.

#### Terms of the Agreement:

- Epstein shall plead guilty (not nolo contendere) to the Indictment as currently pending against him in the 15th Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County (Case No. 2006-cf-009495AXXXMB) charging one (1) count of solicitation of prostitution, in violation of Fl. Stat. § 796.07. In addition, Epstein shall plead guilty to an Information filed by the State Attorney's Office charging Epstein with an offense that requires him to register as a sex offender, that is, the solicitation of minors to engage in prostitution, in violation of Florida Statutes Section 796.03;
- 2. Epstein shall make a binding recommendation that the Court impose a thirty (30) month sentence to be divided as follows:
  - (a) Epstein shall be sentenced to consecutive terms of twelve (12) months and six (6) months in county jail for all charges, without any opportunity for withholding adjudication or sentencing, and without probation or community control in lieu of imprisonment; and
  - (b) Epstein shall be sentenced to a term of twelve (12) months of community control consecutive to his two terms in county jail as described in Term 2(a), supra.
- 3. This agreement is contingent upon a Judge of the 15th Judicial Circuit accepting and executing the sentence agreed upon between the State Attorney's Office and Epstein, the details of which are set forth in this agreement.
- 4. The terms contained in paragraphs 1 and 2, *supra*, do not foreclose Epstein and the State Attorney's Office from agreeing to recommend any additional charge(s) or any additional term(s) of probation and/or incarceration.
- Epstein shall waive all challenges to the Information filed by the State Attorney's Office and shall waive the right to appeal his conviction and sentence, except a sentence that exceeds what is set forth in paragraph (2), supra.
- 6. Epstein shall provide to the U.S. Attorney's Office copies of all

#### Page 3 of 7

proposed agreements with the State Attorney's Office prior to entering into those agreements.

7. The United States shall provide Epstein's attorneys with a list of individuals whom it has identified as victims, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2255, after Epstein has signed this agreement and been sentenced. Upon the execution of this agreement, the United States, in consultation with and subject to the good faith approval of Epstein's counsel, shall select an attorney representative for these persons, who shall be paid for by Epstein. Epstein's counsel may contact the identified individuals through that representative.

8. If any of the individuals referred to in paragraph (7), supra, elects to file suit pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2255, Epstein will not contest the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida over his person and/or the subject matter, and Epstein waives his right to contest liability and also waives his right to contest damages up to an amount as agreed to between the identified individual and Epstein, so long as the identified individual elects to proceed exclusively under 18 U.S.C. § 2255, and agrees to waive any other claim for damages, whether pursuant to state, federal, or common law. Notwithstanding this waiver, as to those individuals whose names appear on the list provided by the United States, Epstein's signature on this agreement, his waivers and failures to contest liability and such damages in any suit are not to be construed as an admission of any criminal or civil liability.

- 9. Epstein's signature on this agreement also is not to be construed as an admission of civil or criminal liability or a waiver of any jurisdictional or other defense as to any person whose name does not appear on the list provided by the United States.
- 10. Except as to those individuals who elect to proceed exclusively under 18 U.S.C. § 2255, as set forth in paragraph (8), *supra*, neither Epstein's signature on this agreement, nor its terms, nor any resulting waivers or settlements by Epstein are to be construed as admissions or evidence of civil or criminal liability or a waiver of any jurisdictional or other defense as to any person, whether or not her name appears on the list provided by the United States.
- 11. Epstein shall use his best efforts to enter his guilty plea and be

Page 4 of 7

sentenced not later than October 26, 2007. The United States has no objection to Epstein self-reporting to begin serving his sentence not later than January 4, 2008.

- 12. Epstein agrees that he will not be afforded any benefits with respect to gain time, other than the rights, opportunities, and benefits as any other inmate, including but not limited to, eligibility for gain time credit based on standard rules and regulations that apply in the State of Florida. At the United States' request, Epstein agrees to provide an accounting of the gain time he earned during his period of incarceration.
- 13. The parties anticipate that this agreement will not be made part of any public record. If the United States receives a Freedom of Information Act request or any compulsory process commanding the disclosure of the agreement, it will provide notice to Epstein before making that disclosure.

Epstein understands that the United States Attorney has no authority to require the State Attorney's Office to abide by any terms of this agreement. Epstein understands that it is his obligation to undertake discussions with the State Attorney's Office and to use his best efforts to ensure compliance with these procedures, which compliance will be necessary to satisfy the United States' interest. Epstein also understands that it is his obligation to use his best efforts to convince the Judge of the 15th Judicial Circuit to accept Epstein's binding recommendation regarding the sentence to be imposed, and understands that the failure to do so will be a breach of the agreement.

In consideration of Epstein's agreement to plead guilty and to provide compensation in the manner described above, if Epstein successfully fulfills all of the terms and conditions of this agreement, the United States also agrees that it will not institute any criminal charges against any potential co-conspirators of Epstein, including but not limited to Sarah Kellen, Adriana Ross, Lesley Groff, or Nadia Marcinkova. Further, upon execution of this agreement and a plea agreement with the State Attorney's Office, the federal Grand Jury investigation will be suspended, and all pending federal Grand Jury subpoenas will be held in abeyance unless and until the defendant violates any term of this agreement. The defendant likewise agrees to withdraw his pending motion to intervene and to quash certain grand jury subpoenas. Both parties agree to maintain their evidence, specifically evidence requested by or directly related to the grand jury subpoenas that have been issued, and including certain computer equipment, inviolate until all of the terms of this agreement have been satisfied. Upon the successful completion of the terms of this agreement, all outstanding grand jury subpoenas shall be deemed withdrawn.

Page 5 of 7

By signing this agreement, Epstein asserts and certifies that each of these terms is material to this agreement and is supported by independent consideration and that a breach of any one of these conditions allows the United States to elect to terminate the agreement and to investigate and prosecute Epstein and any other individual or entity for any and all federal offenses.

By signing this agreement, Epstein asserts and certifies that he is aware of the fact that the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides that in all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial. Epstein further is aware that Rule 48(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that the Court may dismiss an indictment, information, or complaint for unnecessary delay in presenting a charge to the Grand Jury, filing an information, or in bringing a defendant to trial. Epstein hereby requests that the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida defer such prosecution. Epstein agrees and consents that any delay from the date of this Agreement to the date of initiation of prosecution, as provided for in the terms expressed herein, shall be deemed to be a necessary delay at his own request, and he hereby waives any defense to such prosecution on the ground that such delay operated to deny him rights under Rule 48(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure and the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States to a speedy trial or to bar the prosecution by reason of the running of the statute of limitations for a period of months equal to the period between the signing of this agreement and the breach of this agreement as to those offenses that were the subject of the grand jury's investigation. Epstein further asserts and certifies that he understands that the Fifth Amendment and Rule 7(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provide that all felonies must be charged in an indictment presented to a grand jury. Epstein hereby agrees and consents that, if a prosecution against him is instituted for any offense that was the subject of the grand jury's investigation, it may be by way of an Information signed and filed by the United States Attorney, and hereby waives his right to be indicted by a grand jury as to any such offense.

- 111
- 111
- 111

By signing this agreement, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the conditions of this Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

> R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

By:

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY JEFFREY EPSTEIN

GERALD LEFCOURT, ESQ. COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN

LILLY ANN SANCHEZ, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN

18

By signing this agreement, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the conditions of this Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

> R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Dated:

By:

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Dated:

Dated: 9 24 07

Dated:

GERALD'LEFCOURT/ESQ. COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN

LILLY ANN SANCHEZ, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Page 7 of 7

By signing this agreement, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the conditions of this Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

By:

R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Dated:

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Dated: \_\_\_\_\_

Dated:

İ

Dated: 9-24-07

GERALD LEFCOURT, ESQ. COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN LILLY ANN SANGREZ, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN



ADDENDUM TO THE NON-PROSECUTION

IN RE:

INVESTIGATION OF

JEFFREY EPSTEIN

IT APPEARING that the parties seek to clarify certain provisions of page 4, paragraph 7 of the Non-Prosecution Agreement (hereinafter "paragraph 7"), that agreement is modified as follows:

- 7A. The United States has the right to assign to an independent third-party the responsibility for consulting with and, subject to the good faith approval of Epstein's counsel, selecting the attorney representative for the individuals identified under the Agreement. If the United States elects to assign this responsibility to an independent third-party, both the United States and Epstein retain the right to make good faith objections to the attorney representative suggested by the independent third-party prior to the final designation of the attorney representative.
- 7B. The parties will jointly prepare a short written submission to the independent third-party regarding the role of the attorney representative and regarding Epstein's Agreement to pay such attorney representative his or her regular customary hourly rate for representing such victims subject to the provisions of paragraph C, infra.
- 7C. Pursuant to additional paragraph 7A, Epstein has agreed to pay the fees of the attorney representative selected by the independent third party. This provision, however, shall not obligate Epstein to pay the fees and costs of contested litigation filed against him. Thus, if after consideration of potential settlements, an attorney representative elects to file a contested lawsuit pursuant to 18 U.S.C. s 2255 or elects to pursue any other contested remedy, the paragraph 7 obligation of the Agreement to pay the costs of the attorney representative, as opposed to any statutory or other obligations to pay reasonable attorneys fees and costs such as those contained in s 2255 to bear the costs of the attorney representative, shall cease.

By signing this Addendum, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the clarifications to the Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

#### R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA

Dated:

Dated: / 9

By:

ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

GERALD LEFCOURT, ESQ. COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Dated:

Dated:

LILLY ANN SANCHEZ, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN

By signing this Addendum, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the clarifications to the Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

#### R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Dated:

By:

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

JEFFREY EPSTEIN Jeacol Cocourt GERALD LEFCOURT ESQ.

COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN

LILLY ANN SANCHEZ, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN By signing this Addendum, Epstein asserts and certifies that the above has been read and explained to him. Epstein hereby states that he understands the clarifications to the Non-Prosecution Agreement and agrees to comply with them.

#### R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Dated:

By:

A. MARIE VILLAFAÑA ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

Dated: \_\_\_\_\_

JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Dated:

Dated: 0-29-03

GERALD LEFCOURT, ESQ. COUNSEL TO JEFFREY EPSTEIN LILLY ANN SANCHEZ, ESO,

ATTORNEY FOR JEFFREY EPSTEIN

Case 1:19-cr-00490-RMB Document 6-1 Filed 07/11/19 Page 15 of 15					
Case 9:08-cv-80736-KAM Document 361-62		Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2016 Page 15 of 15			
Dac-07-07 04:55pm From-Fowler-White Burnett		3057898201	T-866	P.003/004	F-976

#### Affirmation

I, Jeffrey B. Epstein do hereby re-affirm the Non-Prosecution Agreement and Addendum to same dated Octuber 30, 2007.

Jacorey E. Bostela

12/1/2 Date

Case 1:19-cr-00490-RMB Document 6-2 Filed 07/11/19 Page 1 of 15

# EXHIBIT 2

### UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO. 08-80736-CIV-MARRA/JOHNSON

#### JANE DOE #1 AND JANE DOE #2,

Petitioners,

vs.

UNITED STATES,

Respondent.

## \_\_\_\_\_\_·

#### UNITED STATES' SEALED MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

The United States hereby requests that this Court enter an order dismissing these proceedings and the *Petition for Enforcement of Crime Victim's Rights Act, 18 U.S.C. Section 3771* (DE 1, the "Petition"), through which Petitioners Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 have advanced claims pursuant to the Crime Victims' Rights Act ("CVRA"), for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>1</sup> This Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Petition because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, e.g., Grupo Dataflux v. Atlas Global Group, L.P., 541 U.S. 567, 571 (2004) ("Challenges to subject-matter jurisdiction can of course be raised at any time prior to final judgment."); United States v. Giraldo-Prado, 150 F.3d 1328, 1329 (11th Cir. 1998) (recognizing that "a party may raise jurisdiction at any time during the pendency of the proceedings"); Harrell & Sumner Contracting Co. v. Peabody Petersen Co., 546 F.2d 1227, 1229 (5th Cir. 1977) ("[U]nder Rule 12(h)(3), Fed.R.Civ.P., the defense of lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time by motion of a party or otherwise."); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(h)(3). In the present motion, the United States seeks dismissal of Petitioners' claims based on both a legal and factual challenge to the Court's subject matter jurisdiction. This Court may properly consider and weigh evidence beyond Petitioners' allegations when evaluating such a challenge to the Court's subject matter jurisdiction:

Factual attacks [on a Court's subject matter jurisdiction] ... "challenge subject matter jurisdiction in fact, irrespective of the pleadings." In resolving a factual attack, the district court "may consider extrinsic evidence such as testimony and affidavits." Since such a motion implicates the fundamental question of a trial

Petitioners lack Article III standing and because the claims raised by Petitioners in these proceedings are not constitutionally ripe.

### I. The Claims Raised in the Petition Must Be Dismissed for Lack of Subject <u>Matter Jurisdiction Because the Petitioners Lack Standing to Bring Those Claims.</u>

These proceedings pursuant to the CVRA must be dismissed for lack of subject matter

jurisdiction because Petitioners lack standing to pursue the remedies that they are seeking for

alleged CVRA violations. As the Supreme Court has explained,

to satisfy Article III's standing requirements, a plaintiff must show (1) it has suffered an "injury in fact" that is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.

Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180-81

(2000); see also, e.g., Young Apartments, Inc. v. Town of Jupiter, 529 F.3d 1027, 1038 (11th Cir.

2008) (quoting Harris v. Evans, 20 F.3d 1118, 1121 (11th Cir. 1994) (en banc)). Moreover, "a

plaintiff must demonstrate standing separately for each form of relief sought." Friends of the

Earth, 528 U.S. at 185.

Here, the record incontrovertibly demonstrates that Petitioners cannot satisfy the third

prong of the standing test, and the Petition and these proceedings must accordingly be dismissed

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>2</sup> E.g., Florida Wildlife Federation, Inc. v. South Florida

court's jurisdiction, a "trial court is free to weigh the evidence and satisfy itself as to the existence of its power to hear the case" without presuming the truthfulness of the plaintiff's allegations.

<sup>2</sup> Although Petitioners also fail to satisfy the first and second prongs of the standing test,

*Makro Capital of America, Inc. v. UBS AG*, 543 F.3d 1254, 1258 (11th Cir. 2008) (citations omitted); *see also, e.g., McMaster v. United States*, 177 F.3d 936, 940 (11th Cir. 1999) ("[W]e determine whether this lawsuit survives the government's factual attack [on subject matter jurisdiction] by looking to matters outside the pleadings, and we do not accord any presumptive truthfulness to the allegations in the complaint."); *Scarfo v. Ginsberg*, 175 F.3d 957, 960-61 (11th Cir. 1999).

*Water Management Dist.*, 647 F.3d 1296, 1302 (11th Cir. 2011) ("If at any point in the litigation the plaintiff ceases to meet all three requirements for constitutional standing, the case no longer presents a live case or controversy, and the federal court must dismiss the case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction."); *Phoenix of Broward, Inc. v. McDonald's Corp.*, 489 F.3d 1156, 1161 (11th Cir. 2007) ("[T]he issue of constitutional standing is jurisdictional ...."); *National Parks Conservation Ass'n v. Norton*, 324 F.3d 1229, 1242 (11th Cir. 2003) ("[B]ecause the constitutional standing doctrine stems directly from Article III's 'case or controversy' requirement, this issue implicates our subject matter jurisdiction, and accordingly must be addressed as a threshold matter regardless of whether it is raised by the parties.") (citation omitted).

In these proceedings, the only identified legal relief that Petitioners have sought pursuant to the CVRA is the setting aside of the Non-Prosecution Agreement that was entered into between Jeffrey Epstein and the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida ("USAO-SDFL"). *See, e.g.*, DE 99 at 6 (recognizing that the relief Petitioners seek "is to invalidate the non-prosecution agreement"). But even assuming *arguendo* that Petitioners' rights under the CVRA were violated when Epstein and the USAO-SDFL entered into the Non-Prosecution Agreement, constitutional due process guarantees do not allow either the Non-Prosecution Agreement – which by its terms induced Epstein to, *inter alia*, plead guilty to state criminal charges and serve an 18-month sentence of state incarceration<sup>3</sup> – or the governmental

this Court need not reach or address those issues because an analysis of the third prong of the standing test incontrovertibly establishes the Petitioners' lack of standing. Nonetheless, the circumstances which demonstrate Petitioners' lack of a concrete injury traceable to government conduct are explored *infra* in Section II of this memorandum, which addresses how Petitioners' claims and these proceedings lack constitutional ripeness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also July 11, 2008 Hr'g Tr. at 20-21 (Petitioners' acknowledgement that Epstein's reliance on promises in Non-Prosecution Agreement led to his guilty plea to state charges and his

obligations undertaken therein to be set aside.<sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971) ("[W]hen a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled."); United States v. Harvey, 869 F.2d 1439, 1443 (11th Cir. 1989) ("Due process requires the government to adhere to the terms of any plea bargain or immunity agreement it makes."). Indeed, even if this Court were somehow to set aside the Non-Prosecution Agreement on the authority of the CVRA, and even if after consultation with Petitioners the United States determined that it would be proper and desirable to institute a criminal prosecution in the Southern District of Florida against Epstein on the criminal charges contemplated in the Non-Prosecution Agreement, the United States would still be constitutionally required to adhere to the negotiated terms of the Non-Prosecution Agreement. See, e.g., Santobello, 404 U.S. at 262; Harvey, 869 F.2d at 1443.

Due process considerations further bar this Court from setting aside a non-prosecution agreement that grants contractual rights to a contracting party (Epstein) who has not been made a party to the proceedings before the Court. *See, e.g., School Dist. of City of Pontiac v. Secretary of U.S. Dept. of Educ.*, 584 F.3d 253, 303 (6th Cir. 2009) ("It is hornbook law that all parties to a contract are necessary in an action challenging its validity ...."); *Dawavendewa v. Salt River Project Agr. Imp. & Power Dist.*, 276 F.3d 1150, 1157 (9th Cir. 2002) ("[A] party to a contract is necessary, and if not susceptible to joinder, indispensable to litigation seeking to decimate that

subsequent 18-month state incarceration).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To the extent that the Petitioners' requested invalidation of the Non-Prosecution Agreement would implicitly reject and nullify the correctness of both the state court's acceptance of Epstein's guilty plea and the resulting judgment of conviction –which were induced in part by the Non-Prosecution Agreement – such judicial action might raise additional questions about this Court's jurisdiction under the *Rooker/Feldman* doctrine. *See, e.g., Casale v. Tillman*, 558 F.3d 1258, 1260-61 (11th Cir. 2009); *Powell v. Powell*, 80 F.3d 464, 466-68 (11th Cir. 1996).

contract."); *Lomayaktewa v. Hathaway*, 520 F.2d 1324, 1325 (9th Cir. 1975) ("No procedural principle is more deeply imbedded in the common law than that, in an action to set aside a lease or a contract, all parties who may be affected by the determination of the action are indispensable."); *see also National Licorice Co. v. NLRB*, 309 U.S. 350, 362 (1940) ("It is elementary that it is not within the power of any tribunal to make a binding adjudication of the rights in personam of parties not brought before it by due process of law.").<sup>5</sup>

Additionally, a "favorable ruling" from this Court will not provide Petitioners with anything for the alleged CVRA violations that is not already available to them. For the due process reasons already discussed above, the United States must legally abide by the terms of the Non-Prosecution Agreement even if this Court should somehow set the agreement aside for Petitioners to consult further with the government attorney handling the case. Moreover, as will be explained in greater detail below, *see infra* at 8-12, Petitioners already have the present ability to confer with an attorney for the government about a federal criminal case against Epstein – whether or not the Non-Prosecution Agreement is set aside – because the investigation and potential federal prosecution of Epstein for crimes committed against the Petitioners and others remains a legally viable possibility.<sup>6</sup>

The present proceedings under the CVRA must accordingly be dismissed for lack of standing because Petitioners simply have no injury that is likely to be redressed by a favorable ruling in these proceedings. *See, e.g., Scott v. Taylor,* 470 F.3d 1014, 1018 (11th Cir. 2006) (holding that there was no standing where it was speculative that remedy that Plaintiff sought

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Significantly, it is *Epstein's contractual rights* under the non-prosecution agreement that Petitioners seek to void through these proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Petitioners' present, as well as past, ability to confer with an attorney for the government also demonstrates that Petitioners fail to satisfy the first two prongs of the standing test: Petitioners have simply not suffered a concrete injury that is fairly traceable to the challenged government conduct.

would redress claimed injury).

### II. The Claims Raised in the Petition Are Not Constitutionally Ripe, and These Proceedings Must Thus Be Dismissed for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

This Court must also dismiss these proceedings for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because the Petitioners' claims are not constitutionally ripe.

Ripeness, like standing, "originate[s] from the Constitution's Article III requirement that the jurisdiction of the federal courts be limited to actual cases and controversies." Elend v. Basham, 471 F.3d 1199, 1204-05 (11th Cir. 2006). "The ripeness doctrine keeps federal courts from deciding cases prematurely,' Beaulieu v. City of Alabaster, 454 F.3d 1219, 1227 (11th Cir. 2006), and 'protects [them] from engaging in speculation or wasting their resources through the review of potential or abstract disputes,' Digital Props., Inc. v. City of Plantation, 121 F.3d 586, 589 (11th Cir.1997)." United States v. Rivera, 613 F.3d 1046, 1050 (11th Cir. 2010); see also Pittman v. Cole, 267 F.3d 1269, 1278 (11th Cir. 2001) ("The ripeness doctrine prevent[s] the courts, through avoidance of premature adjudication, from entangling themselves in abstract disagreements ....") (quoting Coalition for the Abolition of Marijuana Prohibition v. Citv of Atlanta, 219 F.3d 1301, 1315 (11th Cir. 2000) (citations and quotations omitted))). Under the ripeness doctrine, a court must therefore determine "whether there is sufficient injury to meet Article III's requirement of a case or controversy and, if so, whether the claim is sufficiently mature, and the issues sufficiently defined and concrete, to permit effective decisionmaking by the court." In re Jacks, 642 F.3d 1323, 1332 (11th Cir. 2011) (quoting Cheffer v. Reno, 55 F.3d 1517, 1524 (11th Cir. 1995)).

When evaluating whether a claim is ripe, a court considers: "(1) the fitness of the issues for judicial decision, and (2) the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration." *Id.* (quoting *Cheffer*, 55 F.3d at 1524 (citing *Abbott Labs. v. Gardner*, 387 U.S. 136, 149 (1967)));

see also, e.g., Association For Children for Enforcement of Support, Inc. v. Conger, 899 F.2d 1164, 1165 (11th Cir. 1990). Under the doctrine, "[a] claim is not ripe when it is based on speculative possibilities," In re Jacks, 642 F.3d 1323, 1332 (11th Cir. 2011), such as if the claim "rests upon contingent future events that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not occur at all," *Atlanta Gas Light Co. v. FERC*, 140 F.3d 1392, 1404 (11th Cir. 1998) (quoting *Texas v. United States*, 523U.S. 296, 300 (1998)). Indeed, "[t]he ripeness doctrine is designed to prevent federal courts from engaging in such speculation and prematurely and perhaps unnecessarily reaching constitutional issues." *Pittman*, 267 F.3d at 1280.

In these proceedings, the Petitioners have sought to set aside the Non-Prosecution Agreement between Epstein and the USAO-SDFL so that Petitioners can "confer with the attorney for the Government" about the possible filing of federal criminal charges against Epstein and the potential disposition of any such charges. *See, e.g.*, July 11, 2008 Hr'g Tr. at 6-7 (seeking an "[o]rder that the [non-prosecution] agreement that was negotiated is invalid" so that Petitioners can exercise the right to confer with the government); *id.* at 19-20, 24; 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5); *see also* DE 1 at 2 ¶ 5 (claiming that Petitioner was "denied her rights" under the CVRA because she "received no consultation with the attorney for the government regarding the possible disposition of the charges").

Notwithstanding the Non-Prosecution Agreement, Petitioners are and have been free to confer with attorneys for the government about the investigation and potential prosecution of Epstein. At least one attorney for the government (Assistant United States Attorney Villafaña from the USAO-SDFL) had spoken to Petitioners about the offenses committed against them by Epstein prior to the signing of the Non-Prosecution Agreement, *see, e.g.*, July 11, 2008 Hr'g Tr. at 22 (acknowledging that prosecutors spoke to Petitioners "about what happened" to them); DE

48 at 6 ¶ 8; *see also* DE 99 at 3, and government attorneys have on multiple occasions offered to confer with Petitioners, *see, e.g.*, July 11, 2008 Hr'g Tr. at 13 ("I will always confer, sit down with Jane Doe 1 and 2, with the two agents and Ms. Villafana. We'll be happy to sit down with them."). Indeed, on December 10, 2010, the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, accompanied by supervisory and line prosecutors from the USAO-SDFL, *personally* conferred with Petitioners' counsel and with Petitioner Jane Doe #1 and entertained discussion about Petitioners' desires to see Epstein criminally prosecuted on federal charges.<sup>7</sup> The United States Attorney and prosecutors in the USAO-SDFL have also corresponded with Petitioners' counsel on multiple occasions about Petitioners' desires to have Epstein criminally prosecuted on federal charges.<sup>8</sup>

Additionally,

a number of districts outside the Southern District of Florida (*e.g.*, the Southern District of New York and the District of New Jersey) share jurisdiction and venue with the Southern District of Florida over potential federal criminal charges based on the alleged sexual acts committed by Epstein against the Petitioners. Epstein is thus subject to potential prosecution for such acts in those districts. Furthermore, because of the nature of the allegations against Epstein, the filing of such potential charges against Epstein still remains temporally viable; charges for such sexual activities involving minors are not barred by the applicable

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  The United States Attorney also offered to confer with Jane Doe #2, but Jane Doe #2 declined the invitation and did not attend the meeting that was scheduled with the United States Attorney.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Since that time, the USAO-SDFL has been recused by the Department of Justice from prospective responsibility for any criminal investigation or potential prosecution relating to Epstein's alleged sexual activities with minor females. The Department of Justice has reassigned responsibility for the investigation and potential prosecution of such criminal matters in the Southern District of Florida to the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Florida for consideration of any prosecutorial action that may be authorized and appropriate.

#### Case 9:08-02.48672369Kax1004900ER1MBnt 2005:22meEntt6r2d 5ineEL0570110/019keP079095/2001315 Page 10 of 20

statutes of limitations. *See* 18 U.S.C. §§ 3283, 3299. Petitioners are free to contact the United States Attorney's Office in those districts and seek to confer with government attorneys in those offices about investigating and potentially prosecuting Epstein based on the alleged federal crimes committed against them.<sup>9</sup>

Petitioners nonetheless have appeared to contend throughout these proceedings that the many opportunities that they have been given to consult with the attorneys for the government about Epstein's offenses and the potential charges against Epstein – opportunities which continue to be available to Petitioners – are not meaningful under the CVRA due to the existence of the Non-Prosecution Agreement. According to Petitioners, the Non-Prosecution Agreement has given Epstein a "free pass" on federal criminal charges for the offenses he committed against Petitioners and others. *See, e.g.*, DE 9 at 15 (characterizing Non-Prosecution Agreement as "a 'free pass' from the federal government"), 2 (contending that the Non-Prosecution Agreement "allowed [Epstein] . . . to escape all federal prosecution for dozens of serious federal sex offenses against minors"), 7 ("the wealthy defendant has escaped all federal punishment"), 12 ("[T]he agreement prevents federal prosecution of the defendant for numerous sex offenses."); DE 77 at 2 (describing Non-Prosecution Agreement as "an agreement that blocked federal prosecution of Epstein for the multitude of sex offenses he committed again [sic] the victims"), 17 ("The [Non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The USAO-SDFL has no present knowledge about whether the United States Attorney's Offices in those districts have opened any investigations into the allegations that have been made against Epstein, whether those offices are even aware of those allegations or the evidence supporting them, or what investigative or prosecutorial actions, if any, those offices might take in the future. Nonetheless, should any investigation be underway or should any investigation be initiated involving such allegations, the evidence gathered in the Southern District of Florida could be disclosed to federal prosecutors and federal grand juries in New York or New Jersey. *See* 

#### Case 9:08-02.48672369Kax1004900ER1114Bnt 2015-12meEntt6r2d EineEL0570110/019keP073/05/20135Page 11 of 20

Prosecution Agreement] barred prosecution of the federal sexual offenses that Epstein had committed *against Jane Doe* #1 and Jane Doe #2 .....").<sup>10</sup> That is simply not so.

Contrary to Petitioners' contentions, there has been no disposition by the government of any federal criminal charges against Epstein. No federal charges involving Petitioners have ever been brought against Epstein, and no such federal charges have been resolved. The Non-Prosecution Agreement about which Petitioners complain disposes of <u>no</u> federal criminal charges against Epstein, and that agreement does not bar the United States from bringing federal criminal charges against Epstein. Instead, when addressing potential federal criminal charges against Epstein, the USAO-SDFL merely agreed in the Non-Prosecution Agreement that:

on the authority of R. Alexander Acosta, United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, prosecution *in this District* for these offenses shall be deferred in favor of prosecution by the State of Florida, provided that Epstein abides by the following conditions and the requirements of this Agreement set forth below.

#### and that

After timely fulfilling all the terms and conditions of the Agreement, no prosecution for the offenses set out on pages 1 and 2 of this Agreement, nor any other offenses that have been the subject of the joint investigation by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the United States Attorney's Office, nor any offenses that arose from the Federal Grand Jury investigation will be instituted *in this District*, and the charges against Epstein if any, will be dismissed.

Non-Prosecution Agreement at 2 (emphasis added).

Thus, the Non-Prosecution Agreement simply obligated the government not to prosecute

Epstein in the Southern District of Florida for the offenses set forth in the Non-Prosecution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This Court has also previously described the Non-Prosecution Agreement as "an agreement under which . . . the U.S. Attorney's Office would agree not to prosecute Epstein for federal offenses." DE 99 at 2-3. That description of the Non-Prosecution Agreement, however, was not based on the Court's interpretation of the terms of the Non-Prosecution Agreement, but was instead based on "allegations" by Petitioners that the Court concluded were "not yet supported by evidence" but upon which the Court nonetheless relied "solely to provide the context for the threshold issues addressed in" its September 26, 2011 Order. *Id.* at 2 n.2.

## Case 9:08-0:4807369Ka:1004900: Brindent 2005:12m Emittered 5ine ELST0110/019ke Page 3/2013.5 Page 12 of 20

Agreement. The Non-Prosecution Agreement does not bar the United States from bringing federal criminal charges against Epstein for the offenses set forth in the Non-Prosecution Agreement in any other district in the nation.<sup>11</sup> *See, e.g., United States v. Cain,* 587 F.2d 678, 680 (5th Cir. 1979) ("Where . . . the prosecutor is not found to have made promises relating to nonprosecution of charges in another district and the [defendant] is not found to have relied on such alleged promises, this Court will affirm the trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss the subsequent prosecutions."). Neither does the Non-Prosecution Agreement bar prosecution in any district for offenses not identified in the agreement.

Petitioners contend that the CVRA gives a victim the right to confer with the attorney for the government before there is a disposition of contemplated, but-not-yet-filed federal criminal charges arising from offenses against the victim. But, although the government disputes that the CVRA creates such a right,<sup>12</sup> the Petitioners have never been denied any such right. The Petitioners have had *and still have* the ability confer to with the attorney for the government about potential federal criminal charges against Epstein and about the potential disposition of any such charges, should they be filed. In fact, Petitioners are free to approach the United States Attorney's Offices in districts such as the Southern District of New York and the District of New Jersey – whose authority to institute criminal charges against Epstein in their districts has not

USAM 9-27.641 (Multi-District (Global) Agreement Requests).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Significantly, under the governing provision of the United States Attorney's Manual, the USAO-SDFL did not have the authority to unilaterally bar Epstein's prosecution in any other district in the country:

No district or division shall make any agreement, including any agreement not to prosecute, which purports to bind any other district(s) or division without the express written approval of the United States Attorney(s) in each affected district and/or the Assistant Attorney General of the Criminal Division.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The government acknowledges that this Court has nonetheless ruled that "as a matter of law the CVRA can apply before formal charges are filed," DE 99 at 10; *see also id.* at 6-9, but has not yet determined "whether the particular rights asserted here attached," *id.* at 10.

been curtailed by the Non-Prosecution Agreement – to discuss the possibility of pursuing federal criminal charges against Epstein.<sup>13</sup> Nothing precludes Petitioners from doing so, and there is **nothing** to indicate that Petitioners' wishes to confer with government attorneys in those districts would be rebuffed in any way. Indeed, it would be rank speculation by Petitioners to contend otherwise.

Here, Petitioners have acknowledged that the best relief they can hope to obtain through these proceedings is the ability to confer with the attorneys for the government. *See, e.g.*, July 11, 2008 Hr'g Tr. at 7 (agreeing that "the best [Petitioners] can get" is the "right to confer"). Yet, under the circumstances, a claim that Petitioners have been denied the opportunity to confer with the attorney for the government about the filing and disposition of criminal charges against Epstein is premature and constitutionally unripe. "This is plainly the type of hypothetical case that [a court] should avoid deciding." *Association for Children for Enforcement of Support, Inc. v. Conger*, 899 F.2d 1164, 1166 (11th Cir. 1990). Any speculation by Petitioners that they might prospectively be denied the opportunity to confer with the government about still-legally-viable federal charges against Epstein simply cannot ripen Petitioners' claims. *See id.* (recognizing that courts "do not generally decide cases based on a party's predicted conduct").

For these reasons, Petitioners' claims in these proceedings should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *See, e.g., In re Jacks*, 642 F.3d 1323, 1332 (11th Cir. 2011) (holding that claims that are "based on events that may take place in the future" are to be "dismissed for lack of jurisdiction") (citing *Greenbriar, Ltd. v. City of Alabaster*, 881 F.2d 1570, 1574 n.7 (11th Cir. 1989) ("[R]ipeness goes to whether the district court had subject matter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Petitioners could also approach the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Florida, but, due to that office's recusal-based derivative prosecutorial responsibilities in the Southern District of Florida, *see supra* note 8, the Non-Prosecution Agreement would constrain the possible filing of federal charges by that office in the Southern District of Florida.

# Case 9:08-CCASO 7369Kax 1004900c R11MBnt 2005:12m dEmittered 5inedLS70110/19ke P070/05/2013.5 Page 14 of 20

jurisdiction to hear the case.")); *Reahard v. Lee County*, 30 F.3d 1412, 1415 (11th Cir. 1994) ("The question of ripeness 'goes to whether the district court had subject matter jurisdiction."") (quoting *Greenbriar*, 881 F.2d at 1573); *see also Jacksonville Property Rights Ass 'n, Inc. v. City of Jacksonville*, 635 F.3d 1266, 1276 (11th Cir. 2011) (concluding that when plaintiffs ask a court "to issue a declaration on an issue that might never impact their substantive rights," they are "asking th[e] court either to issue an impermissible advisory opinion, or to decide a case that is not yet ripe for decision"), *reh'g & reh'g en banc denied*, Case No. 09-15629, \_\_\_ Fed. App'x (11th Cir. Jun. 29, 2011) (Table).

#### **Conclusion**

For the reasons set forth above, the United States respectfully requests that this Court enter an order dismissing the Petitioners' claims and these proceedings for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Respectfully submitted,

#### WIFREDO A. FERRER UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By:

Dexter A. Lee V Assistant United States Attorney Florida Bar No. 0936693 99 N.E. 4th Street Miami, Florida 33132 Tel: (305) 961-9320; Fax: (305) 530-7139 Email: dexter.lee@usdoj.gov

Eduardo I. Sánchez Assistant United States Attorney Florida Bar No. 877875 99 N.E. 4th Street Miami, Florida 33132 Tel: (305) 961-9057; Fax: (305) 536-4676 Email: eduardo.i.sanchez@usdoj.gov

A. Marie Villafaña Assistant United States Attorney Florida Bar No. 0018255 500 S. Australian Avenue, Suite 400 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 820-8711; Fax: (561) 820-8777 Email: ann.marie.c.villafana@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for Respondent